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ADMINISTRATION'S WELFARE REFORM
PROPOSAL

THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 10, 1977
New York City Task Force

HousE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEES ON AGRICULTURE; EDUCATION AND LABOR;

AND WAYS AND MEANS,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON WELFARE REFORM,

New York, N. Y.
-The task force met at 9:15 a.m., pursuant to notice, in the Great

Hall of the Chamber of Commerce, Industry Building, 65 Liberty
Street, New York, N.Y., Hon. Frederick W. Richmond presiding.

Mr. RICHMOND. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.
This is a continuation of the New York City hearings of the

Welfare Reform Subcommittee.
Our first witness today is the dean of the Brooklyn Delegation,

the Honorable Shirley Chisholm.
Good morning, Mrs. Chisholm.

STATEMENT OF HON. SHIRLEY CHISHOLM, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF NEW YORK

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Good morning.
Mr. RICHMOND. I apologize for the absence of some of the other

members, Mrs. Chisholm, but I believe they will be coming right
along.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Thank you very much. I understand that they
had a very full and rather exciting, challenging day yesterday.

I am very glad to be here this morning. I believe that my office
sent to the subcommittee a very detailed statement, some 21 pages
long. I have condensed my remarks to about 6 or 7 pages, realizing
the long list of witnesses that you do have.

Mr. RICHMOND. Your entire statement will become part of the
record, Mrs. Chisholm.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Yes. Thank you very much.
This legislation probably has a greater impact on the residents of

the inner city districts than any other single piece of legislation
because so many of our people cannot exist without assistance.
While everyone in the country is up in arms about the welfare
mess, nowhere is the anger over the system more acute than among

(205)
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the poor recipients themselves. Over and over I hear frustrated
people say "I just don't want to deal with those people down there
at the welfare office. If I could just get me a job, I could take care ofmyself.'he administration's plan with its emphasis on jobs places the
proper focus on the problem. While I believe the principal thrust of
this plan is correct, there are-elements which are inadequate..
Congress will have to make some significant changes in the pro-
posal if it is to be successful at getting people off public assistance if
it is to successfully integrate them into our Nation's work force.

As you know, the new plan will expand- assistance to the working
poor. I commend the administration for this initiative, but I also
suggest that if this is the direction in which we are to go, then the
administration and Congress must understand that the proposed
funding is insufficient.

The $1.8 billion increase in welfare expenditures is not adequate
to cover the needs of current recipients and those who are newly
eligible. What has been done is to slightly increase the size of the
welfare pie while at the same time greatly increasing those to be
served.

Another problem is that the number of jobs provided is not
sufficient for all of those who want and need work. The number of
unemployed is presently around 7 million, but the programs are
being folded into the welfare jobs proposal.

The legislation before us is predicated on the assumption that we
will have achieved a 5.6 percent unemployment rate by 1981. This is
a laudable objective, but it is somewhat-optimistic. The desire is
also laudable, but very difficult to achieve, particularly in cities
which have both high rates of unemployment and a very rapid
decline in manufacturing jobs.

As you can see from the chart inserted in my testimony of
business flight from our -Nation's cities, this has accelerated. New
York experienced a 17 percent decline in manufacturing jobs from
1970 to 1975. Philadelphia dropped 31.5 percent in the same time
frame. St. Louis experienced an incredible 43.2 percent decline.

What private sector jobs there are are going to the suburbs, while
the cities are left with an increasingly dependent population.

One of the hardships for recipients is that those who hold public
sector welfare jobs still will not be eligible for sick leave, vacation
pay, medical insurance, pensions, or any of the other benefits which
regular public service employees receive. Those enrolled in part-
time jobs face similar problems as fringe benefits are rarely in-
cluded for those workers. Benefits ought to be prorated for employ-
ees who work less than a full day.

In the effort to keep day care costs down, the emphasis will be on
the development of part-time jobs, principally during school days
and school hours. Unfortunately, many part-time jobs do not con-
form to that formula. In spite of the fact that the poor are desperate
for work, the myth persists that we must have forced work provi-
sions, and the effect of these provisions is to punish the poor or an
economic condition which is beyond their control.

For example, for the 8 weeks that recipients are looking for work,
they receive a lower benefit. In most cases, families with two adults
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and families headed by a woman whose-children are 14 and over
will only be eligible for a stipend of $192 a month during the 2-
month job search. Why is it necessary to punish r people for
their unfortunate circumstances wile they are looing for work?

Finally, and most critically, the quality of both the jobs and the
training appear to be very poor. The emphasis is on job placement
rather than training, and the joba themselves are too often low-
paying with little chance for upward mobility. The emphasis in the
proposed program is on work experience, but research suggests that
this does not greatly enhance employability.

It is always pointed out that jobs listed in the want ads are going
begging while unemployment rates remain high. There are usually
three problems: First, the better paying jobs require a higher level
of education or skill than the welfare recipient commands, Second,
the jobs are frequently located at a site that is distant from the
recipient and inaccessible to public transportation. Third, they are
jobs which do not provide an income sufficient to support a family.

The latter point is extremely important, especially for the hard
core welfare family which is predominanatly female-headed. In
these single-parent families, the welfare mama has all of the child-
rearing responsibilities and is the sole provider of income. In spite
of this double burden, she receives no priority or special assistance
under either the current system or the proposed new plan. In fact,
she receives less assistance than other recipients.

One of the goals of welfare reform is supposed to be the provision
of equal benefits for persons of equal need, but while the politically
popular elderly have benefits grandfathered in at 85 percent of the
poverty level, equally needy AFDC mothers and children will re-
ceive a benefit which is only 65 percent of the-poverty level. In fact,
these families are better off under the hodge-podge of existing
programs than they are under the new plan.

In 38 States the combined AFDC and food stamp benefits are
higher than the benefits suggested in the new plan. What appears
to have happened is that the money saved from reducing the
welfare benefits of these female-headed households will go to assist
now tWe newly eligible working poor. I for one do not think that we
should rob Paula to pay Paul. She has a hard enough time already.

You may suggest that those families will be protected because
States will supplement the basic Federal grants. You know that
State supplementation is not mandated. Past history indicates that
while States will supplement the elderly, they are prone to cut back
grants for welfare mamas. Also, the States with the greatest need to
supplement, because current benefits are higher, are the very
States which need fiscal relief the most. Increased State
supplementation will eat up the modest fiscal-relief which has been
provided for States like New York.

The ad hoc welfare committee needs to focus on the problems of
female-headed households because the numbers are growing at an
incredible rate and their ability to secure employment is increas-
ingly difficult. These women end up on welfare not because they
want public assistance, but because there are no meaningful alter-
natives provided for them.
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I have provided for you six pages of documentation on the plight
of poor women and the obstacles they face in attempting to escape
poverty, and I will only repeat here a very few points, but I implore
you, I beg you, to please examine these statistics carefully. Welfare
mothers and their children are among the most dependent and
abused of the poverty population, but both existing law and the
administration proposal ignores their problems. The nuclear family
as we have known it in our time, in our history, is not the only form
of family today. It is about time that we recognized this and dealt'
intelligently with the needs confronting us in the seventies.

First, you need to understand that poverty families as a whole
are increasingly female-headed. Nearly half of all poor families are
headed by women and, while only 6 percent of households headed
by men lived below the poverty level in 1975, nearly one-third of the
families headed by women in that same period lived below the
poverty level. In all cases the situation is worse for minority
women; 32 percent of our Puerto Rican families and 39 percent of
our black families are female-headed. The number of female-headed
families is rising, principally because of our high divorce rate.

From 1959 to 1970 female-headed families increased by 60
percent. From 1970 to 1975 they doubled again. These statistics
must be taken into consideration as we attempt to write up a
meaningful welfare reform plan.

One-third of all new marriages in this Nation today now end in
divorce. Last year we hit 1 million divorces. Even middle-class
women are candidates for welfare because a woman with a college
education earns the same as a man in many instances-my charts
will indicate this-as a man with an 8th grade education.

Only 44 percent of divorced women receive child support and only
14 percent receive alimony. After 2 years, even this kind of support
is decreased or terminated because divorced men marry more
frequently than divorced women, and they find that they cannot
support two families.

In spite of the public's perception that the economic status of
women is improving, women's wages as a percentage of men's has
steadily declined. Part of the problem is unequal pay for equal
work. A much bigger problem is that women are clustered in low-
paying, dead-end jobs which do not provide income sufficient to
maintain their families. So they have to go on welfare.

As a rule of thumb, the more female-intensive the job, the lower
the wages are. In more than 20 percent of those occupations with 40
percent or more female workers, women earn less than $2,200 a
year. -

Now studies, and this is something the subcommittee has-to take
into account, of current job training programs point out that most
job training programs are biased in favor of men. They receive
priority in the assignment of training slots for a wider range of jobs
at better salaries and preference in placement as well as higher
starting salaries when they are placed.

Only 4.8 percent of participants receive training in our manpower
training programs, and the preference in these programs is given to
unemployed fathers. While a large number of women have been
placed in jobs, only a small percentage of these are actually re-
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moved from the welfare rolls and long-term employment is rare
because the jobs are usually of a brief duration, or the income
derived is not sufficient to maintain their families. Thus, welfare
mothers end up in a revolving door where they go on and off, on
and off welfare in a cyclical pattern.

One study of 7 million mothers who received welfare over a 10-
year period showed that the typical woman was assisted for 2 years.
She left welfare and then eventually she slipped back on the rolls to
receive assistance again for 2 more years because of this kind of
pattern where the job training does not prepare her with the
requisite skills to function on a long-term basis in our society, all
band aids and patched-up measures to meet problems on an emer-
gency basis.

In addition to the rising divorce rate, there is another phenom-
enon which is feeding the welfare rolls, and that is the rise in the
illegitimate teenage births. Recent studies show that the rate of
illegitimate births is rising and that the girls are giving birth at
younger and younger ages. Interestingly enough, the illegitimacy
rate among black teenagers seems to be leveling off. The big jump
right now is among young white teenagers. You have charts to
substantiate that which I have just said.

Since these girls are children themselves, or likely to quit school,
and they have few salable skills, they are prime candidates for the
welfare roJ!s and are the most difficult recipients to help get off of
these rolls.

Our school systems are doing virtually nothing to help these kids,
and neither is Congress, which is out to score some points with the
antiabortion lobby.

Finally, and most emphatically-I am coming to the end of my
extrapolated remarks-I state to you that women will not be
removed from the welfare rolls until this country and its legislators
realize that we must have adequate day care, and the provisions in
the administration's proposal are not sufficient. If we are talking
about removing people from -the welfare rolls so that they can
become productive citizens, so that they can pay taxes in this
society and not collect welfare benefits as a result of the escalating
taxes that the middle and upper income families pay, we have to
recognize that the poor woman, the welfare woman, does not really
want welfare. She, too, has pride. But we have to have an instru-
ment in this society whereby she is able to get a job and begin the
training while her children are being cared for. We speak about the
fact that day care is too expensve.

Our President just signed yesterday a $10 billion environmental
measure. Human resources are much more important and we must
concern ourselves about the conservation and preservation of hu-
man resources. In the long run, although it may seem terribly
expensive, in the long run the Federal welfare benefits will decrease
if we train people to take their roles in this society and be
productive.

Only about 2 percent of all children are currently cared for in day
care centers, and these are, either private nonprofit, private propri-
etary, or are funded through Head Start or title XX. The majority
of the public day care funds are provided through title XX, as we
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know, but we also know there is a cap on title XX spending, so day
care centers have stopped growing in the last few years.

There are several things wrong with the $150 per child per month
day care provision. First, it only provides for two children. If a
mother has more than two children who need day care, she is just
out of luck. How irrelevant can we be?

Second, $150 per child per month works out to about $1,800 a
year at a time when centers can run at between $2,000 and $2,500
per child per year. It is clear that the provision will not allow the
poor to choose day care centers as an option because they cannot
afford it. They will therefore fall back on unlicensed family care.

As an old hand in this field, I know the consequences of such a
policy. If you were upset about the nursing -home scandals and the
despicable situation in our public mental institutions and institu-
tions for the retarded, you are setting up a situation which is ripe
for the abuse of the children of the poor. If you try to do this on the
cheap, you will have babies sitting on the floor in wet diapers, in
dirty, overcrowded rooms which do not meet health and fire codes,
watched over by people who frequently need help and care
themselves.

The other alternative will be to turn these youngsters into
latchkey children. A 1974 Census Bureau study indicates.that we
already have 1.8 million children caring for themselves while their
mothers work. We ought to be working to improve that situation
rather than setting up a policy which increases the chances of
children being left alone and unsupervised. It is not a good idea to
leave children unattended under any circumstances, but for the
poor, especially those in the violence-prone inner city, it is insane.

In conclusion, it should be pointed out that the current day care
tax credit provision was used as a model for arriving at the $150
cost. The problem is that the tax credit is primarily used by middle-
class families. The credit does not cover all child care expenses, and
middle-class families pay for the balance of child care expenses
themselves. Unfortunately, the poor do not have any leeway in
their budgets. They cannot pay additional child care costs because
every dime is necessary for other essential expenses.

Ours is the only in,'ustrialized nation in the world that does not
have a national day care program. With 40 million women in the
work force, 5 million of whom have preschool children, I think that
it is time that we took a much more serious look'at their problems.

Since the day care component of this proposal was obviously
added at the last minute and not carefully thought out, it may be
necessary to address the day care problem in a separate piece of
legislation.

These are just my thoughts and, as I indicated to you earlier, I
have given you a very detailed statement. Thanks for this
opportunity.

[The prepared statement follows:]
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STATzWDNT or HoN. SmmZY CHsHOLK, ARmnESENTATI rs
CozNmSS FRom THE STATE OF NZw YoRK

Thank you for this opportunity to present my views on the
proposed welfare plan. I am deeply concerned about the need
for reform because this legislation probably has a greater
impact on the residents of my constituency and other inner
city districts like it, than any other single piece of legis-
lation.

It is a sad comentary on the state of our national economy
that welfare is a "major industry" in the inner city districts
such as mine.

While everyone in the country is up in arms about the wel-
fare mess nowhere is the anger over the system more acute than
among the poor recipients themselves. Over and over I hear
frustrated people say "I just don't want to deal with those
people down there at the welfare office. If I could just get
a job, I could take care of myself."

The Administration's plan with its emphasis on jobs places
the proper focus on the problem. While I believe the princi-
pal thrust on this plan is correct there are elements which are
inadequate. Congress will have to make some significant changes
in the proposal if it is to be-successful at getting people off
public assistance and fully integrating them into our nations
work fnrce.

As you know, the new plan will extend assistance to the
working poor. I connend the Administration for this initiative
but suggest that if that is the direction in which we are to go,
then the Administration and Congress must understand that the
proposed funding is insufficient. The 2.8 billion increase in
welfare expenditures is not adequate to cover the needs of cur-
rent recipients and those newly eligible. What has been done
is to slightly increase the size of the welfare pie while at
the same time greatly increasing those to be served. There
isn't enough to go around and someone will be short changed.
Some benefits will be cut. I fear, as I shall explain in fur-
ther detail later, that the welfare mama and her children will
be the most vulnerable constituency in terms of reduction of
benefits.

Another problem is that the number of jobs provided is not
sufficient for all those who want and need work. The number of
unemployed is presently around 7 million. But the welfare jobs
proposal will only provide 1.4 million jobs, 300,000 of which
are part time Further 725,000 of these are not new job slots
but recycled CETA Title II and Title VI jobs because these pro-
grams are being folded into the welfare jobs proposal.

The legislation before us is predicated on the assumption
that we will have achieved a 5.6% unemployment rate by 1981.
This is a laudable objective but in the opinion of both liberal
and conservative economists, it does not appear that we will
achieve that goal in the proposed time frame. This last month
our unemployment rate went back up to 7.1% and as you well know,
the unemployment rate of Blacks and other minority groups is
double that of the general population.

The desire to stimulate the private sector is also laudable
but very difficult to achieve, particularly in cities such as
New York, St. Louis, Boston, Chicago, Philadelphia, Detroit
and Buffalo, which has both high rates of unemployment and a
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rapid decline in manufacturing jobs.

As you can see from the table below the flight of business
from our nation's cities has accelerated. New York experi-
enced a 27% decline in manufacturing jobs from 1970 to 1975.
Philadelphia dropped 31.5% in the same time frame and St. Louis
experienced an incredible 43.21 decline. What private sector
jobs there are are going to the suburbs while the cities are
left with an increasingly dependent population.

CENTRAL CITY
,DECLINE IN MANUFACTURING EMPLOYMENT 1970 - 1975

CITY 1970 1975 % DECLINE

BOSTON 70,500 52,200. 26.0%
HARTFORD-SMSA 107,700 89,600 16.8%
NEW YORK CITY 833,500 608,800 27.0%
BUFFALO 65,700 48,200 26.6%
PHILADELPHIA 243,800 167,000 31.5%
BALTIMORE 96,800 80,400 16.9%
CLEVELAND 156,300 126,800 18.9%
DETROIT 188,100 148,900 20.8%
CHICAGO 506,700 386,100 23.8%
ST. LOUIS 160,700 91,200 43.2%
NEW ORLEANS 28,300 24,400 13.8%

SOURCE: U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE, ANNUAL SURVEY OF
MANUFACTURES 1975 (AUGUST, 1977)

Another problem is that recipients who hold these public
sector welfare jobs will not be eligible for sick leave, vaca-
tion pay, medical insurance, pensions or any of the other bene-
fits which regular public service employees receive. Those
enrolled in part-time'jobs face similar problems as fringe bene-
fits are rarely included for these workers. Benfits ought to
be prorated for employees who work less than a full day.

Another problem with the part-time jobs component is that
the goal is to have jobs available for recipients on school days
during school hours thus freeing working mothers to be at home
after school. The aim of course is to keep day care costs down.
It is difficult to develop part-time jobs and it is even more
difficult if they must be available only during school days and
school hours.

Last summer there was a photograph of thousands of youngsters
crushed against each other in a wild stampede to get in line for
a handful of summer youth jobs. In spite of the fact that the
poor are desperate for work, the myth persists that we must have
"forced work" provisions. The effect of these provisions is to
punish the poor for an economic condition which is beyond their
control.

For example, for the 8 weeks that recipients are looking for
work they receive a lower benefit. In most cases, families with
two adults and families headed by a women whose children are 14
and over will only be eligible for a stipend of $192 a month
during the two month job search. Why is it necessary to punish
poor people for their unfortunate circumstances while they are
looking for work?

Finally and most critically, the quality of both the jobs
and the training appear to be very poor. The emphasis is on
job placement rather than training and the jobs themselves are
too often low paying, with little chance for upward mobilit.
The emphasis in the proposed program is on work experience but
research suggests that this does not greatly enhance employa-
bility. In a statement prepared by the Black Caucus of
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Massachusetts on their state's proposed workfare program it was
pointed out that an analysis of the (Mass.) Department of Em-
ployment Security's statistics sh9wed that less than 2% of the
participants had been refused employment due to a lack of re-
cent work history.

Similarly it is always pointed out that jobs listed in the
want adds are going beggingwhile unemployment rates remain high.
There are usually three problems. First, the better paying jobs
require a higher level of education or skill than the welfare
recipient commands. Second, the jobs are frequently located at
a site * distant from the recipient and inaccessible to public
transportation. Third, they are jobs which do not provide an
income sufficient to support a family.

The latter point is extremely important especially for the'
hardcore welfare family which is predominantly female-headed.
In these single-parent families, the welfare mama has all the
child rearing responsibilities and is the sole provider of
income. In spite of this double burden she receives no priority
or special assistance under either the current system or the
proposed new plan. In fact, these fbmale-headed families re-
ceive proportionately less assistance than other recipients.

As you know after F.A.P., the first major attempt to over
haul our welfare programs was defeated, Congress initiated
some incremental welfare reforms. With the passage and imple-
mentation of SSI, the elderly,blind and disabled, now have
greatly increased benefits. They currently receive benefits
which equal 85% of the poverty level. Further, there are SSI
provisions which call for automatic-increases tied to the cost
of living..

One of the goals of welfare reform is supposed to be the
provision of equal benefits for persons of equal need. In
spite of this,welfare mothers and their children - the AFDC
type family - receives proportionately less assistance. While
the elderly, who are more politically popular and who vote,
are grandfathered in at 85% of the poverty level, welfare
mothers and their children receive a basic benefit which is
only 65% of the poverty level. In fact in terms of benefits
these families are better off under the hodge podge of exist-
ing programs than they are under the new plan. In 38 states,
the combined AFDC and food stamp benefits are higher than the
benefits suggested in the new plan. What appears to have happen-
ed is that the money "saved from reducing the welfare benefits
of these female-headed households will go to assist the newly
eligible working poor. I for one don't think we should rob
Paula to pay Paul. She has a hard enough time already.

You may suggest that those families will be protected be-
cause states Iill supplement the basic federal grant. You
know state supplementation is not mandated. And past history
indicates that while states will supplement the politically
popular elderly they are prone to vote cut backs in the basic
grant of welfare mamas. Also, the states with the greatest
need to supplement, because current benefits are higher, are
the very states which need fiscal relief the most. Increased
state supplementation will eat up the modest fiscal relief
which is provided.

The Ad Hoc welfare committee needs- to focus on the problems
of female-headed households because the numbers are growing at
an incredible rate and their ability to secure employment is
increasingly difficult.

With the advent of the war on poverty in the 1960's the
percentage of families with incomes below the poverty level
has declined to 12%. Although the percentage of families has
declined, the number of such families has remained fairly
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constant, but the profile of these families has changed.

Increasingly, the poverty family is female headed. I
would like to share with you some recent pertinent statistics:

* In 1975, females headed one household of every eight
but nearly half of all poor families were headed by women.

* While only 6% of households headed by men lived below
the poverty level in 1975, nearly one-third of families headed
by women lived below the poverty level.

* In all cases the situation was worse for minority women.
While 11% of families nationally are female headed, 13.7% of
Chicano, 32% Puerto Rican and 39.91 of Black families are fe-
male headed.

The number of female-headed families is rising principally
because of our high divorce rate:

* From 1969 to 1970 female headed families increased by
60%. From 1970 to 1975 they doubled again.

* One-third of all new marriages now end in divorce, last
year we hit one million divorces.

Even middle class women are candidates for welfare because:

* A woman with a college education earns the same as a
man with an 8th grade education.

* Only 44% of divorced women receive child support and only
14% receive alimony. Studies show that after two years even
the support is decreased or terminated because divorced men
remarry more frequently than divorced women and they find they
can't support two families.

Women account for nearly two-thirds of the'growth in the
American work force over the last 20 years. Most work because
they must and they are either th3 sole support of their families
or their husbands do not earn enough to make ends meet. In
fact, nearly half of all American families that have only a
median income require two workers to maintain that level. The
two parent working family is now the national norm.

Women who are heads of households end up on welfare because
they tend to be clustered in low-paying, dead-end jobs which
do not provide income sufficient to maintain their families.

* In spite df the public perception that the economic status
of women is improving, women's wages as a percentage of men's
wages has steadily declined. In 1975 women averaged 57 cents
for every dollar earned by men, three years ago women earned
more - 63 cents to the men's dollar.

Part of the problem is unequal pay for equal work. A much
bigger problem is the fact that women are clustered in a few
low paying female intensive occupations. When I chaired the
House Education Committee's hearings on Sex Discrimination in
Vocational Education, we found that the five largest occupations
for women are secretary, sales clerk in a retail store, bookee-
per, public elementary school teachers and waitress. These
fields employ 25.4% of all women workers. In 1969 the median
income for the best paying of those jobs was $6,883 for the
teachers, while the median income for the lowest - the waitress
amounted to $1,662.

As a rule of thumb, the more female intensive the job the
lower the wages are. In more than 20% of these occupations
with 40% or more female workers women earn less than $2,200 a
year. (The above figures from Page 39 of the Vocational Educa-
tion Sex Discrimination hearings).
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During the Vocational Education hearings and during a wel-
fare seminar which the members of the Womens Caucus conducted,
the point stressed over and over was that women needed (a)
training and placement in non-traditional jobs in order to
earn an income sufficient to support their families, and (b)
day care for their children.

Current job training programs absolutely ignore the needs
of low income women. As JoAnn Steiger and Eleanor S. Szanton
pointed out in their study of Job Training for Low Income Women
(prepared for the Secretary's Advisory Committee oi)the Rights--
and Responsibilities of Women, December 1976) most 'ob training
program are biased in favor of men. They receive priority in
the assignment of training slots, for a wider range of jobs at
better salaries, and preference in placement, as well as
higher starting salaries when they are placed.

Even the work incentive program (WIN) which was originally
designed in the 1967 ariendments to the Social Security Act to
target on the basic vocational needs for low income women has
not been successful. For example, while the ratio of low in-
come women to male registrants was three to one in 1975, the
ratio of female placements was only two to one.

In the 1970's, the WIN program shifted its emphasis from a
training and job development program to a massive job placement
mechanization. Only 4.8% participants receive training in man-
power programs and the preference in these is given to umemploy-
ed fathers.

While a large number of low income women have been placed
in jobs, only a small percentage of these are actually removed
from the welfare rolls and long term employment is rare because
the jobs are of a brief duration, or the income derived is not
sufficient to maintain the family.

.A similar problem exists with CETA where participation by
men is considerably higher than for women, particularly in the
public service components. Further many low income girls and
women seem to be in summer work experience programs with no
long term prospects.

CETA EMPLOYMENT BY SEX:

MALE FEMALE

Title I 53.1% 46.9%
Title II 63.8% 36.2%
Title VI 71.4% 28.6%

Percent of unemployed
labor forge 54.0% 46.0%

Thus, wlefare mothers end up in a revolving door where they
go on and off welfare in a cyclical pattern. One study of 7
million mothers who received welfare over a 10 year period
showed that the typical woman was assisted for two years, left
welfare and then eventually slipped back on the rolls to receive
assistance for two more years.

-In addition, to the rising divorce rate, there is another
phenomenon which is feeding our welfare rolls, that is the rise
in illegitimate teenage births. Recent studies show that the
rate of illegitimate births is rising and that the girls are
giving birth at younger and younger ages. Interestingly, the
illegitimacy rate among Black teenagers seems to be leveling
off. The big jump is among young, white teenagers.
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The big jump
These youngsters tend to have little or no prenatal care

and their babies are frequently born underweight. This in-
creases the chances of serious health problems for the infant.

Since these girls are children themselves, are likely to
quit school, and have few saleable skills, they are prime
candidates for the welfare rolls and are the most difficult
recipients to help get off these rolls.

Pregnancy is the single biggest reason girls drop out of
school and a study of 17,000 school districts reported in the
Americhn School Boarn Journal in April 1975 indicated that only
5,450 districts provide for pregnant girls. -Many schools sus-
pend these students, others are what are called "push outs."
That is the girls receive no attention or help and are under
social pressure from peers, parents and teachers to drop out.

I realize that this Committee does not handle educational
legislation but this problem is clearly interrelated particularly
as the members of the House are moving to curtail medicaid
abortions. We have a tremendous number of teenage births and
we can expect a lot more.

In his discussions with the Black Caucus, former welfare
Commissioner for New York City, Jim Dumpson, emphasized to us
that the current plan is deficient because it does little in
the way of improving or expanding social services in spite of
the fact that poor people, especially the hard core, multipro-
blem families need a great deal of assistance just to be able
to function. We know that drug and alcohol abuse have in-
creased; that there is an increasingly need for family planning;
that the number of elderly who need a great number of support
services is rapidly increasing; that there is an increased
need for programs for thq handicapped, the mentally retarded,
and others such as those whose native tongue is other than en-
glish. Finally and most particularly, we need an increase in
expenditures for child care.

I have saved this point for last because it is one of the
issues I am most deeply concerned about. I was a day care
teacher and director for 19 years before in entered public
public office. In 1973 about 10 percent of American families
with children received AFDC benefits - three million families.
Nearly halT of these women - 47 percent - cared for preschool
children full time. Sixteen percent worked and an additional
11.5 percent werb seeking work.

Without day care these women can not survive and the day
care provisions in the Administration's proposal are not suffici-
ent.

Only abou two percent of all children are currently cared
for in day care centers. These are either private non-profit,
private proprietary, or are funded through Head Start or Title
XX. The majority of the public day care funds are provided
through Title XX but as you well know, there is a cap on Title
II spending, so day care centers have stopped growing in the
last few years.

There are several things wrong with the $150 per child, per
month day care provision. First it only provides for two chil-
dren. If a mother has more than two children who need day care,
it is her tough luck.

Second, $150 per child per month works out to about $1,800
a year at a time when centers can run at between $2,000 and
$2,500 per child per year. It is clear that the provision will
not allow poor women to choose day care center zare as an option
because they can't afford it. They will therefore fall back on
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unlicensed family care.

As an old hand in this field, I know the consequences of
such a policy. If you were upset about the nursing home scan-
dals and the despicable situation in our public mental institu-
tions and the institutions for the retarded, you are setting up
a situation which is ripe for the abuse of children of the poor.
If you try to do this on the cheap, you will have babies sit-
ting on the floor in wet diapers, in dirty, over crowded rooms
which do not meet health and fire codes, watched over by people
who frequently need help and care themselves.

The other alternative will be to turn these youngsters into
latch key children. A 1974 census bureau study indicates that
we already have 1.8 million children caring for themselves while
their mothers work. We ought to be working to improve that
situation rather than setting up a policy which increases the
chances of children being left along and unsupervised. It isn't
a good-idea to leave children unattended under any circumstances
but for the poor, especially, those in the violence-prone-inner
city, it is insane.

It should be pointed out that the current day care tax cre-
dit provision was used as a model for arriving at the $150 cost.
The problem is that the tax credit is primarily used by middle
class families. The credit does not cover all child care ex-
penses and middle class families pay for the balance of child
care expenses themselves. Unfortunately poor families don't
have any leaway in their budgets. They can not pay additional
child care costs because every dime is necessary for other
essential expenses.

Ours is the only industralized nation in the world that
does not have a national day care program. With 40 million
women in the work force 5,000,000 of whom have preschool
children, I think it is time we took a more serious look at
their programs.

Since the day care component of this proposal was obviously
added at the last minute and was not clearly thought out it may
be necessary to address the day care problem in a separate
supplemental piece of legislation.
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Mr. RICHMOND. Thank you, Mrs. Chisholm. Your testimony was
certainly very worthwhile and I am so glad you expanded on day
care, which obviously must be a very important factor of this new
welfare reform legislation.

Mrs. Chisholm, you were I believe in the black caucus who were
at the White House yesterday discussing the Humphrey-Hawkins
bill.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. I was not present.
Mr. RICHMOND. You were not?
Mrs. CHISHOLM. Not present at that meeting, no, sir.' I was in New

York City.
Mr. RICHMOND. Many of us concluded yesterday that many parts

of the Humphrey-Hawkins bill would probably have to be included
in welfare reform legislation if indeed we were going to have true
welfare reform legislation.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Yes.
Mr. RICHMOND. Obviously welfare reform legislation is nothing

unless it has day care, training, and jobs.
Mrs. CHISHOLM. Yes.
Mr. Richmond, one of the -things that really bothers me-it

bothers me deeply-is everybody is talking about welfare reform
and that we have to get people into the world of work. 'We know the
current economic status in our society and we recognize all of the
factors that have brought this about, but people do not seem to
realize that the day care center component will help to alleviate
some of the problems overburdening us in this society.

Why do I say that? Because it becomes a vicious cycle. If you have
all of these women on welfare with children, it means that the
taxpayers have to be constantly paying heavier and heavier taxes
because the counties and the cities now cannot carry the welfare
load. You see what is happening, Congressman, in this city because
the welfare component is such a large percentage of their budget.
Then if we have any sense and we recognize what is happening, how
do we get all of these women who can be productive onto the tax
rolls? We do it by establishing the day care centers so that the
women can work and, instead of getting public assistance, they will
be able to be paying out taxes to help lift up the economy on the
local and State levels.

Most of our local government units today in this country are
saddled with welfare costs. You know it and I know it. Yet the
legislation does not seem to recognize the interrelationship between
the day care center component and getting all of these women back
into the world of work, most of whom want to work but have no
place to leave their children.

Mr. RICHMOND. Mr. Le Fante.
Mr. LE FANM. Mrs. Chisholm, I would like to thank you very

much for your testimony here this morning. I know from working
with you in the past that very seldom are you wrong and we
certainly appreciate your taking the time to be here today. I am
certain that your testimony will be a deciding factor when we do get
down to markup and deciding how'we are going to cope with that
situation.
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Most people who have appeared before this subcommittee, even
down in Washington, are more concerned about the possibility that
we will not be able to set up a system to create employment. If we
can't do that, we will not even have to worry about day care. Now
that has been told to us on several occasions. What I would be more
concerned about at this point, even before we get into worrying
about day care centers, is your ideas or thoughts or suggestions on
creating work for this type of mother?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. I think there are three things with this type of
mother we have to look into. We have to look into the concept of
flexi-time provisions, part-time work. We also have to-look into a
concept that might sound revolutionary, but it will be meeting the
needs of the society which *we live in today, and that is for mothers
who might have to work part-time in the evenings or late after-
noons, that many places of work can have their own child care
center and their own unit to take care of those needs.

Overall, we cannot hold on to the traditional ways of helping
people or the traditional ways of grappling with the problems
because of the new factors and the new problems that confront us
in our society today. I think that many of us become so bound by
tradition when tradition is no longer the answer to the problems.
We have to think of flexi-time, part-time, part-time child care
centers, full-time child care centers. We have to look at the needs of
these women and build the kind of legislation and the programs
around the needs of these thousands of women in this country who
want to work and need to work but have very unique and very
jaded family situations because, as I said to you, one-third of our
AFDC families are female-headed.

Mr. LE FANTE. Are you of the opinion that that cannot be done or
incorporated within this legislation that we are presently
considering?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. I think it should be incorporated into the legisla-
tion. This is why I am speaking to you this morning, as I have been
reviewing the President s proposal. I have been doing a great deal of
reading on this.

I think that one of the most important things that has been left
out of the legislation, as I said in my testimony, which was added on
at the last minute, and I know the circumstances under which it
was added on, is day care, which is one of the most important
components of the legislation, in addition to the fact that with the
manpower training program even in my community today, which
has close to 29 percent unemployed or better, we still have-and I
did this recently-we still have jobs that are going begging in the
local employment offices.

Why do you have jobs going begging in the local employment
offices when 27 or 28 percent of the people are unemployed? It is
because there is no coordination between your State labor and your
State employment programs and your manpower training programs
in terms of the fact that the people in the area should be getting the
training for the accessibility and availability of the jobs that stay on
the employment list month after month in State employment
offices. In talking to some of these employment counselors and so
forth they said, we have 200 jobs. I said, "What are you doing with
these?"

22-065 0 - 78 - 15
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"We don't have people who are trained."
The people come in and this is what they can do. Yet there is

work going begging. The left hand does not know what the right
hand is doing. Somewhere along the line the bureaucrats and the
program planners need to get together and try to coordinate. That
needs to be done.

Mr. LE FANTE. But that is tradition.
Mrs. CHISHOLM. Yes. That is the problem, this kind of tradition.

We ought to get away from tradition, yes, and get into new concepts
that will help.

Mr. LE FANTE. Thank you.
Mr. RICHMOND. Thank you, Mr. Le Fante.
Mr. Fisher.
Mr. FISHER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It is very pleasant to see my colleague here in your home city. I

would like to ask a few questions about the day care program and
its inadequacies. Accepting your view that the Government needs to
do much better with this than it has done, would you like to see us
go the route of adding on cash benefits to cover day care costs, or
would you like to see us go the route of providing the services
directly? Which way do you think we ought to go?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. I have not thought that out clearly, but it would
seem to me that I would prefer to see the provision of the services.

Mr. FISHER. In that case do you think we ought to try to
incorporate the approach in this piece of legislation, or should we
deal with it separately?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. If you are going to speak about meaningful
welfare reform and not just welfare reform, it must and it should be
a component because you are not going to be able to reduce
appreciably the whole problem of welfare assistance in this country
unless you address yourselves to the fantastic needs of all of these
female-headed families who want to be able to work.

Mr. FISHER. One of the main thrusts of what the President has
proposed is to move in the direction of cashing out, as they say,
these different beneficial programs, put it on a cash basis, turn cash
over to the recipient and give the recipient then a fair range of
discretion as to how the money is used, whether for day care, or for
additional food purchases, or on the rent bill, or something else. I
am very interested that you think this is not the direction to go
with respect to better day care.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. I was a day care center director for many years
myself in New York City and I speak to you on the basis of my
experiences. Other persons may disagree with me on that point of
view but I speak to you on the basis of my experiences.

Mr. FISHER. Do you see it as a government incentive or subsidy
flowing to private providers of day care services primarily, or to
private and local government providers?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. I think it can be private and local, private and
local-government provided.

Mr. FISHER. But going that route rather than to the recipient, to
the family?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. That is my view.
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Mr. FISHER. Then how would you-bring together the mother or
the family unit, whatever its nature, with the provider who is then
subsidized to furnish the service?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. I think there are several different approaches
that can be utilized. I think there are four or five different ways in
which we can set up a program in which the provider can really
associate and have a direct relationship with the family because it
is not only a question of providing day care per se. It is also a
question of counseling services.-

Mr. FISHER. Yes.
Mrs. CHISHOLM. The sense of direction that the mother might lead

us, as she tries to get herself together so she can be a productive
citizen, there are several different ways that can be worked out. It
does not mean that there is a barrier at all.

Mr. FISHER. Under such an approach you would provide, let's say,
more subsidy to day c&re-ceite-rs that offered services to poor
people, to welfare families, than you would of course to those who
offered their services to working people?

Mrs. CHISHOLM, If we say we want this country to move in the
direction of full employment and we want people to be out here and
become productive, I think just in terms of prioritized needs that
this is what we would have to do.

I also think that, regardless of whatever system we may use, any
Federal moneys or any -moneys that will be going out for that
purpose must be monitored and supervised. The money must be
monitored and supervised to be sure that it is going for the purpose
for which we are designating it, because with all that we have going
on in all kinds of Federal programs we do not need now to come up
with a new concept And at the same time not monitor or supervise
the program in such a way that we realize that the end product is
going to be a diminution of public assistance in this country,
because people are responding in terms of the day care centers and
then they can go out and get a job. It has to be monitored.

Mr. FISHER. Would you also advise that we apply this service
approach rather than cash approach to help with the food bill?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. No, not the food.
Mr. FISHER. Should we stick with the food stamps?
Mrs. CHISHOLM. Stick with the food stamps, not with the food bill.
Mr. FISHER. And not go to a cash system there?
Mrs. CHISHOLM. That is right. That is my feeling. There are

differences of opinion.
Mr. FISHER. Of course that is a considerable departure from what

the administration has recommended to us.
Mrs. CHISHOLM. There are all kinds of differences in this total

bill, the total concept. I do not know if many of you gentlemen
realize it, but for many years I was a social worker myself, a day
care center teacher, a Head Start teacher, educational consultant
with the Bureau of Child Welfare, and so I speak to you not in a
vacuum; I speak to you out of a wealth of experiences in the entire
child welfare field and the abuse I saw in the field, and some of the
things I always thought needed to be done. Many people may not
agree with me but that is the way I feel.

Mr. FISHER. Could I just probe this one step further?
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Out of all of this experience you have come to this conclusion,
that the cashing out approach is not so good for food stamps, for day
care, perhaps for other elements in welfa, and that I guess must
mean that you are willing to accept administrative problems of
major size in order to be somewhat more certain that the services
are delivered where they are most needed.

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Yes. Iam willing to accept that.
Mr. FISHER. Are you also worried about the family, the benefit

family or person, receiving the benefits in cash and then somehow
or other not using the cash for food, rent, day care, important
things, as against what most people would regard less important
things? Does this worry you?

Mrs. CHISHOLM. Oh, yes, it does worry me and none of these
things should actually worry us. I guess we should have a basic
belief in humanity and we should look for the good in people, but
we recognize that we are human, and there are temptations, regard-
less of whatever you use, cash or services, unless you have monitor-
ing and supervising on all of these programs which have become so
bungled.

I do not blame the people out there themselves. What has
happened is that we have not assumed responsibility for setting up
the kind of mechanism that we can call people to task, if you will, if
they are not following through on the regulations.

Mr. FISHER. Thank you very much. It is very helpful.
Mr. RICHMOND. Thank you, Mrs. Chisholm.
Thank you, Mr. Fisher.
Mrs. Chisholm, we are certainly glad you came this morning.

Your testimony was really, as usual, most worthwhile.
Mrs.- CHISHOLM. Thank you.
Mr. RICHMOND. The next witness is the Honorable Herman

Badillo, a member of Congress from the 21st District of New York,
the Bronx.
STATEMENT OF HON. HERMAN BADILLO, A REPRESENTATIVE IN

CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF NEW YORK
Mr. BADILLO. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning,

colleagues.
Mr. RICHMOND. Mr. Badillo, we are most anxious to hear your

comments on welfare reform because if anyone has that welfare
problem it is you, and we would like to know how yod would like to
see this subcommittee improve the welfare situation not only in
your district but throughout the country.

Mr. BADILLO. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I have a
statement which I would like to introduce for the record and then I
will summarize my testimony.

Mr. RICHMOND. It will be printed in the record in toto.
Mr. BADiLo. I think I will address myself today primarily to the

problems in New York City because I think that is the purpose of
having local hearings, for which I commend all of you, so you can
get the impact on the local situation.

The basic problem in President Carter's proposal is that the idea
of having a uniform benefit throughout the country simply will not
w rk, especially as it affects those in New York. The basic thrust of
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my proposals over the years has been for Federal takeover of
welfare. We mean by Federal takeover of welfare, all of it, not just
a portion of it, and, in fact, that was one major reason why we so
strongly supported President Carter last year.

If you have a basic minimum benefit such as is proposed, that
may work out very well for Mississippi and 12 other States, but it
does not work well for New York City. I think that you have to
recognize that the existing structure of welfare payments is such
that the only program that will bring about a Federal takeover of
welfare is a program which provides for benefits to be adjusted
based upon the existing situation in the individual States. This
means that you have to have a regional adjustment instead of a
uniform national payment. That means that, you would have a
much higher amount in New York than the one that you have for
Mississippi or the one that is provided i4 the bill.

I just hope that nobody here thinks that the amount of money
that New York State is paying to welfare recipients is too high
because if anybody does, I want to remind them that some of our
colleagues, including Cogressman Bingham, at one time tried to live
with a welfare budget in New York City and they almost starved to
death. Congressman Bingham gave up after a few days because he
could not do it.

If in fact there is any evidence that the payments are too large,
that evidence should be examined and if it is proven to be valid,
then the payments can be reduced. But I have seen no such
evidence and therefore I say that if we are talking about welfare
reform, the first thing is there has to be regional adjustment rather
than a uniform national payment, and I propose that amendment to
you.

The second point is, that in proposing that Comprehensive Em-
ployment and Training Act jobs be switched over to the program for
better jobs under welfare reform, the President does not seem to
recognize that in New York City over 20,000 municipal jobs are
CETA jobs. Therefore, if we abolish that program as is being
proposed we will not have, as far as the city is concerned, any kind
of assistance from the Federal Government because we will be
giving those jobs to welfare workers but we will either have to fire
over 20,000 municipal workers or else increase taxes in order to
provide those jobs in addition. Therefore, from our point of view
there is going to be no Federal jobs assistance.

So, if you want to have a program for public service jobs, that is
fine, but do not take them away from the existing CETA program,
which serves a totally different function. Therefore, I propose that
it be made clear that any program for public service jobs does not
come out of existing jobs that are being allocated now.

The third issue is the question of the so-called job search. I think
you all know that not too long ago in New York City when there
was an announcement that certain jobs were being made available
in the summer jobs program, young people lined up beginning at 3
a.m. so that by the time the doors opened there was almost a riot.
The reality is that there are no jobs available and to have a
component that requires a meaningless search for jobs for a period
of weeks is just unrealistic.
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I think that there may be parts of the country, though I do not
know of any, where there are plenty of jobs around, and if you want
to provide for that possibility there should be an amendment
included in the bill that says that the job search requirement does
not apply where you have an unemployment rate that is higher
than the national average, which certainly is the case in New York
City. That way we will not go through useless motions, and people
will not have to lose money while they are going through something
that we in New York know to be futile.

Another point I would like to make involves the question of
keeping families together. Under this program there is no doubt
that when a single-parent female is the head of the household, and
a man goes into the household they will be getting less money, So
that once again there is a disincentive for families to stay together.
The reality is that the men are around, I have been going over this
time and time again, but' I must do it once more. As you may know,
I am a certified public accountant, but you do not have to be a CPA
to figure this out. Let me give you an example.

In New York City let us say that there are 300,000 women living
alone with children under 18. Now, that could be possible although
it would be a very unusual situation. But it is impossible that there
can be about 300,000 women living alone with children under 18
who have children every year. Either New York City has a very
remarkable situation where we have the miracle of the Bible being
repeated over and over again every year, or else there is a squad of
men who go around as a task force sleeping with those women so
that they can have children. If you divide the population of New
York City into the people under 18 and over 18, men and women,
somewhere along the line there are approximately 150,000 men
missing. Nobody has been able to explain where those men are. I
can tell you those men are there. They simply are not coming
forward because of the existing welfare law.

The bad part of it is that it therefore does not mean anything for
us to have job training programs in for example, the South Bronx or
Bedford-Stuyvesant because the men cannot come forward and
identify themselves in order to take advantage of those jobs because
then they have to say where they live. If they do that, then the rest
of the family will be taken off welfare.

Gentlemen, this is the reality. The people are there. Any statisti-
cian will tell you that the men must be around and an examination
of the particular areas will prove that, and every social worker
knows it.

I have been a city commissioner. I can tell you that the commis-
sioners who sign statements saying that the men are not present
know those statements are false, because the fact is that they are.
But we are not going to find out who is around, and we are not
going to be able to train the people for more meaningful jobs, unless
we have a program that does not penalize a man for being identified
as a head of a household. That is what the existing program does,
and the proposed bill does not change it in any way.

Then, of course, I want to talk about thild care provisions that
Mrs. Chisholm mentioned. I think that most of you know that New
York City has been closing child care centers. Therefore, it is
ludicrous to talk about more child care provisions ir, a city where
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we have been closing centers because of the fiscal crisis, so unless
you provide either additional deductions to the people involved or
unless you provide the funds for more child care, centers, that
provision is meaningless.

Finally, we have to recognize that the biggest unemployment
situation is among young people 16 to 21. These are the single
people. These are the ones who have an unemployment rate of 60,
70, 80 percent. If they are not included in the group that is going to
get the benefit of the special jobs program, we are not doing
anything at all.

These are some of the basic concepts that I think are wrong with
the bill, but they are fundamental concepts that must be corrected
if we are going to have true welfare reform.

Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF HON. HzRMAN BADLLo, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS FROM THE
STATE oF NEw YORK

Mr. Chairman, colleagues, I appreciate the opportunity to come before you this
morning to share my views on the program for better jobs and income. As you know,
I have long been an advocate of welfare reform, and in the past 2 or 3 years, as New
York's fiscal crisis has grown, I have been increasingly impressed with the urgent
need for Federal action that will relieve the city of some of the unconscionable
burden it must bear in caring for the poor. I was therefore pleased when the
President suggested that it was indeed time to address the question, and I antici-
pated seeing what solutions would be found.

The President's proposal is sound in concept. I concur in the view that every poor
American in need of financial assistance should have access to that aid. I agree that
work disincentives should be eliminated. It is critical that the opportunity to work be
made available to all who want to work. And certainly the waste and inefficiency
that is so apparent should be eliminated through the effective administration of a
single new program.

In assessing the President's proposal, I used two criteria. The first was what
benefit it would bring to the people it was designed to serve, the second how it could
help New York. On both these counts, the program for better jobs and income fails.
As it now stands, the administration's proposal is inadequate and unworkable.

I would like to discuss several of the areas where I feel that the President's
proposals fall far short of what they should be:

I. THE FEDERAL SHARE OF WELFARE

The program for better jobs and income cannot by any stretch of the imagination,
be called welfare reform. It certainly will not, in its present form, provide any relief
for New York City.

One of the major objectives in seeking to reform the welfare system is the relief of
the onerous burden States and localities must bear in meeting their welfare rolls.
The situation in New York not only defines the seriousness of the problem, but
indicates what the benefits could be under real reform of the system: as you know,
we now have a deficit. We do not know exactly what it is, except that it runs into the
hundreds of millions of dollars. For fiscal year 1978, the city's share of various
income maintenance programs is over a half billion dollars. Obviously, if the Federal
Government assumed the full cost of the program, the city's fiscal difficulties would
certainly be well on their way to solution! The program as now structured would be a
disaster for all but those 12 States whose welfare benefits fall below the level of the
estimated benefit.

A single uniform minimum benefit simply will not work. It is, of course, ridiculous
to give New York City-size benefits to a citizen of Mississippi, but it is equally
unreasonable to expect a New Yorker to live on the same scale as a Mississipian.
Therefore, I propose that the program for better jobs and incomes be amended to a
plan where there is a full Federal assumption of the total cost of benefit payments,
and that such a plan include a regional cost-of-living adjustment component. That is
the only system that will help New York, it will provide the most effective form of
fiscal relief for our current problems, and it will also benefit cities, counties and
States across the country.


